

AUSTRALIA-JAPAN RESEARCH CENTRE

ANU COLLEGE OF ASIA & THE PACIFIC CRAWFORD SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND GOVERNMENT

Reliability of Structural Shocks Estimates from a Bivariate SVAR Model: The Case of Southeast Asian Countries

Arief Ramayandi



PACIFIC ECONOMIC PAPERS No. 357, 2006

PACIFIC ECONOMIC PAPER NO. 357

2006

Reliability of Structural Shocks Estimates from a Bivariate SVAR Model: The Case of Southeast Asian Countries

Arief Ramayandi The Australian National University arief.ramayandi@anu.edu.au

AUSTRALIA-JAPAN RESEARCH CENTRE CRAWFORD SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS & GOVERNMENT ANU COLLEGE OF ASIA AND THE PACIFIC © Australia–Japan Research Centre 2006

This work is copyright. Apart from those uses which may be permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968* as amended, no part may be reproduced by any process without written permission.

Pacific Economic Papers are published under the direction of the Editorial Committee of the Australia–Japan Research Centre. Members of the Editorial Committee are:

Professor Jenny Corbett Executive Director Australia–Japan Research Centre The Australian National University, Canberra

Professor Emeritus Peter Drysdale Crawford School of Economics and Government The Australian National University, Canberra

Professor Christopher Findlay Professor of Economics University of Adelaide Adelaide, South Australia

Professor Stuart Harris Department of International Relations The Australian National University, Canberra

Papers submitted for publication in this series are subject to double-blind external review by two referees.

The Australia–Japan Research Centre is part of the Crawford School of Economics and Government, The Australian National University, Canberra.

ISSN 0 728 8409 ISBN 0 86413 306 5

Australia–Japan Research Centre Crawford School of Economics and Government The Australian National University Canberra ACT 0200

Telephone: (61 2) 6125 3780 Facsimile: (61 2) 6125 0767 E-mail: ajrc@anu.edu.au URL: http://www.crawford.anu.edu.au

Contents

List of figures and tablesiv
1. Introduction1
2. Literature review
3. Methodology
4. Data description and issues
5. Empirical results and analyses9
6. Conclusion14
Notes
References

TABLES

Table 1	ADF unit root test
Table 2	Coefficient of correlation between supply shock and demand-specific policy variables
Table 3	Granger causality test results 11
Table 4	Testing for time aggregation problem 12

Appendixes

Appendix 1	Cumulative impulse responses for the annual data set	15
Appendix 2	Cumulative impulse responses for the quarterly data set	16
Appendix 3	Variance decomposition from structural factorisation (annual data set)	18
Appendix 4	Variance decomposition from structural factorisation (quarterly data set)	19
Appendix 5	The estimated structural shocks	20

Reliability of Structural Shocks Estimates from a Bivariate SVAR Model: The Case of Southeast Asian Countries

In order to assess the symmetry in the nature of structural shocks for a bloc of countries to form a currency union, long-run identifying restrictions to simple bivariate models are often used. This study attempts to assess the reliability of the estimated structural shocks produced from applications of these kinds of models by looking at their consistency in representing the designated shocks. The case examined covers some countries in the Southeast Asian bloc. The finding suggests that the commingling shocks problems exist. Exercise using larger models and higher frequency data is then advisable.

1. Introduction

The issue of financial integration in East Asia has received growing attention in past decades. The 1997 Asian financial crisis intensified the issue, and led to calls a common currency and coordinated exchange rate system in the region. These developments have revived the question of whether or not the East Asian region satisfies the requirements set out in the theory of optimum currency areas (OCA).

According to this theory, countries that seek a common monetary arrangement should meet some necessary level of political preconditions as well as standard economic criteria. The necessary political preconditions include a readiness to establish a transnational institution capable of lending credibility to the commitment to jointly defend the currency pegs of the participating countries. The general standard economic criteria for OCA are as follows: (i) greater intra-regional trade; (ii) symmetry in the nature of economic/structural shocks; and, (iii) similarities in terms of past macroeconomic policies, stage of development and financial systems.

As far as the standard economic criteria for an OCA are concerned, considerable work has been done to assess the symmetry of structural shocks. Since structural shocks are generally not observable in published data sets, they are usually estimated using long-run identification restrictions such as those suggested by Blanchard and Quah (1989). The objective of this study is to assess the reliability of these estimated structural shocks (supply shock in particular)¹ produced by the long-run identifying restrictions for some Southeast

Asian countries as identified in earlier work by Bayoumi and Eichengreen (1994).² If the estimated structural shocks were not reliable, then some corrections would need to be in order to get a better measure for assessing the criteria. The findings of this study will then assess the reliability of those estimates for some Southeast Asian countries and suggest some potential corrections for estimation strategies.

The structure of this study is as follows. Section 2 presents a brief literature review concerning the issue. In section 3 the methodology used for assessing the issue is discussed. Section 4 presents a description of the data. Section 5 provides the empirical results and analysis; and section 6 summarises the main conclusions.

2. Literature review

In their seminal paper, Bayoumi and Eichengreen (1994) apply the Blanchard and Quah (1989) long-run identifying restriction to a bivariate vector auto-regression (VAR) system to uncover the structural shocks for a number of countries in the Americas, Western Europe and East Asia regions. Based on the positive correlation of their estimated supply shocks, the authors identify three potential regional groupings of economies to form a currency area that face similar underlying disturbances. In their Southeast Asian bloc, they include Hong Kong, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore and possibly Thailand.

In support of the earlier findings, Bayoumi, Eichengreen and Mauro (1999) and Bayoumi and Mauro (1999) extend the analysis by focusing on broader indicators for the possibility of the five largest members of ASEAN (Association of Southeast Asian Nations), namely Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, Thailand and the Philippines, forming a currency union. They conclude that in terms of economic pre-requisites, these ASEAN countries are not in a significantly worse position than the EU before the signing of Maastricht Treaty in 1992.

On the issue of the symmetry in the nature of economic shocks, these papers all rely on the estimated structural shocks produced by a bivariate structural VAR (SVAR) system. This approach was put forward initially by Blanchard and Quah (1989), where they assign a long-run identifying restriction to a bivariate VAR system containing output and unemployment using U.S. data. Bayoumi and Eichengreen (1994) estimated the same system with output and inflation instead of unemployment, for their sample countries. Blanchard and Quah (1989) cautioned about aggregating many types of shocks into a single demand and supply shock specification. The authors, therefore, suggested at least two possible extensions: examining the co-movements of the estimated structural shocks with larger sets of macroeconomic variables; and enlarging the system by incorporating more variables.³

These extensions, besides identifying more specific types of shocks in the case of enlarging the VAR system, are also valuable for checking the reliability of the estimated structural shocks produced by imposing long-run identifying restrictions on such a small system. The estimated structural shocks from a bivariate VAR system could potentially involve a commingling of supply and demand shocks due to the aggregation process. For example, the estimated supply shock may potentially be carrying some types of demand shocks due to the problems emanating from shock aggregation and/or time aggregation issues. Faust and Leeper (1997) set out some propositions for valid shock aggregations and also some empirical strategies to assess the issue.

In their paper, Faust and Leeper (1997) confront their set-up conditions to the findings from estimating different specifications of a small model. In their case, they estimate two sets of structural shocks using the Blanchard and Quah model (the incomeunemployment or the YU-model) and the Bayoumi and Eichengreen model (the incomeprices or the YP-model) for the U.S. data set. They find that the coefficient of correlation between the YP-supply shock and the YU-demand shock (0.56) is higher than its correlation with the YU-supply shock (0.20). Hence, there is an indication of a probable commingling of the underlying supply and demand shocks. Gottschalk and Zandweghe (2001) also come to a similar conclusion when applying the methodology to a German data set. In terms of the time aggregation issue, Faust and Leeper find that the identified supply shock estimated from the YU-model involves substantial commingling with the demand shock, while this is not the case for the estimated structural shocks from the YP-model.

3. Methodology

As mentioned earlier, the aim of this project is to conduct an evaluation of the reliability of the estimated structural shocks for the Southeast Asian bloc of countries that are identified by Bayoumi and Eichengreen (1994) as a potential group to form a currency area. In order to evaluate the reliability of the estimated underlying structural shocks for those specified countries, we employ the YP-model from Bayoumi and Eichengreen (1994). Bayoumi and Eichengreen identified their bivariate SVAR model based on the aggregate demand (AD) – aggregate supply (AS) framework. They assume that the AD shock has no long-run effect on output but has a permanent effect on price, while the AS shock has a permanent effect on both variables. This section consists of two subsections covering the methodology to estimate the structural shocks and to assess its reliability.

3.1 Estimating structural shocks

Following the YP-model, the specification of interest is set up as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Delta y_t \\ \Delta p_t \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} c_{y1}(L) & c_{y2}(L) \\ c_{p1}(L) & c_{p2}(L) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u_{dt} \\ u_{st} \end{bmatrix}$$
or,
$$X_t = C(L)u_t$$
(1)

where, Δy_t is the first difference of the log of real gross domestic product (GDP) measure (hence measuring economic growth) and Δp_t is the difference of the log of the real GDP deflator (hence measuring inflation). $c_{ij}(L)$; i=(y,p) and j=(1=demand shock, 2=supply shock). u_{dt} is the demand shock at time t and u_{st} is the supply shock at time t.

Since u_{dt} and u_{st} are unobservable, they are estimated by first estimating the following unrestricted VAR model:

$$X_t = A(L)X_{t-1} + e_t \tag{2}$$

Where, $X_t^{T} = [\Delta y_t, \Delta p_t]$; A(L) is the 2x2 matrix with elements equal to $a_{ik}(L)$; k represents column; and $e_t^{T} = [e_{yt}, e_{pt}]$, the vector of error terms from the two equation in the bivariate system. The next step is to convert the VAR model in (2) into its vector moving average (VMA) representation as follows:

$$X_t = (I - A(L))^{-1} e_t$$
(3)

Except for being expressed in different variables, (1) and (3) are exactly the same. Therefore: $(I-A(L))^{-1}e_t = C(L)u_t$. By assuming that u_{dt} and u_{st} follow a white noise process and normalising their variance to be equal to 1, and by imposing the long-run identifying restriction for the demand shock effects on output $(\Sigma c_{yl}(L)=0)$, we have enough information to estimate the contemporaneous parameters u_{dt} and u_{st} ($c_{il}(0)$).

Using the estimated $c_{ij}(0)$ above, we can then calculate the estimated values for the structural shocks. From (2), e_{it} is the one step ahead forecast error of Δy_t and Δp_t ; while from (1), we know that those one step ahead forecast errors are $\sum_i c_{ij}(0) u_{it}$. Therefore, $u_t = C(0)^{-1} e_t$.

An additional consistency check on the estimated structural shocks comes from the theoretical behaviour of the underlying model used to estimate the shocks. According to the theory, a supply shock should initially raise output and reduce price level. On the other

hand, a demand shock should initially raise both output and price level. Given this feature of the underlying model, one can check the suitability of the estimated structural shocks by looking at the impulse response function produced by each shock to output and prices.

3.2 Assessing reliability

Unlike the methodology proposed by Faust and Leeper (1997) and reproduced by Gottschalk and Zandweghe (2001) for the case of Germany, this paper evaluates the shock aggregation problem by asking the question whether or not the estimated supply shock can be explained by some demand-specific policy variables. As suggested by the theory, an unanticipated policy would act as a shock to the demand side of an economy. The policy shifts the AD curve and changes the level of output and aggregate prices to a new equilibrium level.

In relation to the case of estimated structural shocks discussed previously, the policy should not be contained in the estimated supply shock. Furthermore, the estimated supply shock should also not systematically be led by those demand specific policies. In order to test this, the correlation between demand-specific policy variables and the estimated supply shock is examined. Since the correlation coefficient does not imply 'causation' (in the sense of precedence), we also use the Granger causality test to check whether or not the demand-specific policy variable helps in predicting the supply shock:

$$H_t = b + G(L)H_t + v_t \tag{4}$$

where $H_t = [u_{st}, a \text{ demand-specific variable}]; b = [b_1, b_2], a \text{ vector of constant terms}; G(L) is a 2x2 matrix which elements are the sum of coefficients for lagged elements of <math>H_t$; $L = 1, ..., p^4$; and v_t is a 2x1 vector of contemporaneous error terms.

To test the hypothesis, we basically conduct an *F*-test for the null hypothesis, H_0 : all the parameters for lagged demand-specific variable in the supply shock equation = 0. If H_0 is rejected, then the estimated supply shock is Granger caused by the demand-specific variable. In other words, the demand-specific variable helps to predict the supply shock within a relatively short period (shortly leading the u_{st}).⁵ Therefore, we have an indication that the estimated supply shock is commingled with some types of demand shocks. In other words, the estimated supply shock could not be regarded as an entirely reliable measure for the actual supply shock.

The Faust and Leeper (1997) approach is used to assess for the potential time aggregation problem. In order to characterise the similarity between the estimated structural shocks from quarterly and annual data, we need to assume that the estimates from

quarterly data are correct and to assess how the estimates from annual data aggregate them. To be able to conduct the test, the annual estimated shock (supply and demand) is set as a function of four lagged quarterly shocks at the same year, that is:

$$e_{\rm st} = V(L^4) \, u_{\rm st} + W(L^4) u_{\rm dt} + \eta_t \tag{5}$$

and,

$$e_{dt} = M(L^4) u_{st} + N(L^4) u_{dt} + \mu_t$$
(6)

where *e* and *u* are the estimated annual and quarterly shocks respectively. In order for the annual shocks to be consistently aggregating the quarterly ones, $W(L^4)$ in (5) and $M(L^4)$ in (6) must not be different from zero (0). Therefore, we conduct an *F*-test for the two hypotheses above. If the hypothesis is rejected, then there is an indication of shock commingling when annual data are used.

4. Data description and issues

This study uses both annual and quarterly data for the five countries identified earlier, namely, Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore, Indonesia and Thailand. To estimate the bivariate SVAR, data on real GDP (as a measure of real output) and the GDP deflator (as a measure of aggregate prices) for these countries were collected and the tests were conducted using the software program EVIEWS 4.1.

The annual data for output and prices come from the World Bank World Table (WBWT)⁶ starting from 1960–2002.⁷ All of the quarterly data comes from the CEIC database with different length of observation depending on availability. To avoid estimating effects caused by seasonality, all the quarterly real GDP data are seasonally adjusted.⁸ Hong Kong data were collected for the period of 1973 (Q1)–2002 (Q4), Malaysia for 1991 (Q1)–2003 (Q2), Singapore for 1985 (Q1)–2003 (Q2), and Indonesia and Thailand from 1993 (Q1) to 2003 (Q2).

For the demand-specific policy variables, this study considers growth of reserve money (RMG) and changes in the level of short-run discount rate (di) as proxies of monetary policy; growth of government expenditure (FPG) as a proxy of fiscal policy; and change in the level of domestic currency exchange rate to the US dollar (dER) as a proxy for internationally induced demand effects. Both annual and quarterly data for those variables were collected for different length of observation, according to its availability, for each country. The monetary policy data were taken from the international financial statistics (IFS) and CEIC database except for Malaysia (taken from WBWT). Hong Kong's annual interest rates were collected for the period of 1982–2002, while the quarterly data is for the period of 1982 (Q1)–2002 (Q4). Malaysia's annual *RMG* were taken from WBWT for 1960–2000, while the quarterly *RMG* and *di* were taken from CEIC database for 1991 (Q1)–2002 (Q4) and 1991 (Q1)–2003 (Q2) respectively. Singapore's annual and quarterly data *RMG* were collected for 1963–2002 and 1985Q1–2003Q2 respectively, while *di* was for 1985 (Q1)–2003 (Q2). Indonesia's and Thailand's annual and quarterly data for *RMG* and *di* were collected IFS for 1960–2002 and 1993 (Q1)–2003 (Q2) respectively.

The annual fiscal policy data were mostly came from the WBWT except for Malaysia (1971–2002) and Indonesia (1973–1999) – from CEIC database – and Thailand (1960–2002) – from the IFS. Data for Hong Kong (1977–2002) and Singapore (1964–2002) were de-trended due to the significant trend effects on the series. The trend is assumed to be largely anticipated, hence is left out in order to capture the unanticipated effect of this policy.

All the quarterly fiscal policy data were taken from CEIC database except for Indonesia where the series of quarterly data are not available. Hong Kong data are available for 1984 (Q1)–2002 (Q4), Malaysia for 1991 (Q1)–2003 (Q2), Singapore data for 1985 (Q1)–2003 (Q2) and are seasonally adjusted due to remarkable seasonality feature present in the data, and Thailand for 1993 (Q1)–2003 (Q4).

Finally, the annual *dER* data were collected from the WBWT except for Hong Kong, which is taken from the CEIC database. Hong Kong data were collected for 1980–2002, Malaysia, Singapore and Thailand for 1960–2002, and Indonesia for 1967–2002. The quarterly data were all taken from CEIC database. Hong Kong data were collected for 1980 (Q1)–2002 (Q4), Malaysia for 1991 (Q1)–2003 (Q2), Singapore for 1985 (Q1)–2003 (Q2), and Indonesia and Thailand for 1993 (Q1)–2003 (Q2).

The growth of each variable previously explained is measured by the first difference of its log value. Exception applies for the interest rate and exchange rate variables, which is measured by their first difference in levels. All the obvious seasonality and trends were corrected from the data in order to get a better measure of unanticipated shocks for each economy. The following table shows the results for the augmented Dickey Fuller (ADF) tests for each variable under consideration.

As seen in the Table 1 below, it is quite clear that all the variables of interest are stationary in the form for which they are used for the analysis. Therefore, we can proceed to the estimation of our model and the results and analysis are presented in the following section. Some variables have been stationary in levels, like the annual log of reserve money in Malaysia, and both annual and quarterly interest rates in Hong Kong. However, since

	Variable	Hong K Annual	ong Quarterly	Malaysi Annual	ia Quarterly	Singap Annual	ore Quarterly	Indone Annual	sia Quarterly	Thailan Annual	d Quarterly
~	Level	0.41	6.78	048	2.86	-0.65 (detrended)	4.86	3.27	1.22	-0.39 (detrended)	1.43
Ø	First differences Level	-2.51** -0.93 (detrended)	-3.01*** 1.38	-5.38*** 3.74	-3.54*** 2.77	-4.69*** 1.66	-2.99*** 3.60	-2.39** -0.81	3.91*** 1.82	-3.63*** 2.38	-3.71*** 2.67
шл	First differences Level	-2.42**	-2.50**	-4.30*** -1.85* (detrended)	-5.29*** 1.65	-2.37** -0.69 (detrended)	-3.55*** 5.57	-2.64*** 3.65	-3.11*** 3.78	-2.64*** -1.01 (detrended)	-4.95*** 3.38
•••	First differences Level	-1.92*	-2.07**	-3.86***	-5.81 * * * -1.15	-3.28***	-2.91 * * * -1.54	-12.42***	-2.69*** -1.25	-8.72***	-6.80*** -1.46
ţ	First differences Level	-3.53*** -0.99 (detrended)	-10.35*** 0.91	-1.22 (detrended)	-7.20***	-0.50 (detrended)	-10.08*** 3.29 (SA)	3.95	-6.10***	2.02	-4.76*** 1.23
ER	First differences Level	-3.74^{***} 0.19	-2.26^{**} 1.24	-2.33** 0.45	-6.62^{***} 0.30	-7.14*** -1.56	-12.09*** -1.25	-1.81 * 0.38	0.12	-1.83* 1.76	-9.82*** 0.82
	First differences	-2.44**	-5.93***	-5.29***	-3.74***	-3.66***	-9.92***	-6.94***	-4.56***	-5.54***	-4.88***

Note: SA means seasonally adjusted.
 Lag length for the ADF regression is selected on the basis of AIC or SIC.
 *,**,*** significant at the 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively.

Table 1 ADF unit root test 8

we are interested in the (relative) change of those variables in conducting our analysis, we still use the first difference form of those variables.

5. Empirical results and analyses

5.1 The structural shocks estimation

Using the data set discussed in the previous section, we proceed to estimate the bivariate SVAR model for each country. The lag lengths are determined using the Akaike information criteria (AIC) and/or the Schwarz information criteria (SIC).

By applying the methodology outlined in sub-section 3.1 to uncover the aggregate supply and demand shocks, the model produces sensible results for each economy under consideration. The imposed long-run identifying restriction produced stable impulse response functions (as seen in Appendixes 1 and 2). Another way to check the sensibility of the SVAR results is by checking the "over identifying" restriction as set out in 3.1. All the impulse responses produced are consistent with what suggested by the theory, that is supply shock initially raises output and reduces the price level, and demand shock initially raises both output and the price level (see Appendixes 1 and 2).

As discussed earlier in sub-section 3.1, the implied supply and demand shocks faced by each economy under consideration are estimated from the model for each country. The series of those structural shocks for both the annual and quarterly data set can be seen in the figures in Appendix 5. By decomposing the forecasted variance errors for output growth and inflation, it can be seen that in general, the variance of output growth is dominated by the supply shocks, while the variance of inflation is dominated by the demand shocks. The findings apply generally for almost all of the countries under observation and for both annual and quarterly data sets. The main exception is Indonesia's and Thailand's inflation for the quarterly data set (See Appendixes 3 and 4).

5.2 Reliability assessment

Shock aggregation issue

The coefficient of correlation between the estimated supply shock and some demandspecific policy variables for the countries under consideration is examined in order to get an insight of whether or not the estimated supply shock is closely and significantly correlated with those supposedly demand shock components. Table 2 below shows the correlation coefficients by country and by time frequency. The correlation coefficient is tested for H_0 : the correlation coefficient is not different than zero (0) using t-statistics.

Country		Relative change in RM	Change in interest rate	Relative change in FP	Change in exchange rate
HonHong Kong	Q	_	0.05	-0.027	-0.168
	Α	-	0.069	-0.109	-0.003
MalMalaysia	Q	0.21	-0.045	0.31**	0.467***
	Α	0.305*	-	-0.176	-0.175
SingSingapore	Q	-0.036	0.13	-0.061	-0.099
0 0 1	Ā	0.135	-	-0.03	-0.404***
IndoIndonesia	Q	-0.065	0.302*	_	0.29*
	Ā	0.40**	-	0.223	0.098
ThaiThailand	Q	0.204	0.417***	-0.24	0.409***
	A	-0.029	_	-0.154	0.044

Table 2 Coefficient of correlation between supply shock and demand-specific policy variables

Notes: Q and A stands for quarterly and annual respectively;

*,**,*** significant at the 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively.

From Table 2, one can see that the correlation coefficients between the measure of supply shock and all of the demand-specific policy proxies are not significantly different from zero in the case of Hong Kong. This indicates that the estimated supply shock for Hong Kong is relatively uncorrelated with the proxies of demand shock components in the model. In the case of the other countries, however, there are some indications that the estimated supply shocks are correlated with some demand shock components. In the case of Malaysia, there is an indication that the quarterly supply shock correlates with relative changes in the fiscal policy and exchange rate changes, while its annual underlying supply shock is significantly correlated with the growth of reserve money. For Singapore, the annual estimated supply shock shows significant correlation with changes in the exchange rate. For Indonesia, changes in interest rates and the exchange rate correlate significantly with the quarterly estimate of the supply shock, while the annual supply shock also significantly correlated with the growth of reserve money. In Thailand's case, the estimated quarterly supply shock is also significantly correlated with changes in interest and exchange rates.

Although some correlation coefficients are found to be significant, they do not necessarily imply causation. The policy changes could be part of a response to a supply shock rather than otherwise, or they may just appear to move together coincidentally. In this case, then, the estimated supply shocks need not necessarily contain some elements of the demand shocks.

To check for this possibility, we proceed by conducting the Granger causality test as discussed in subsection 3.2. The results of the test are as follows:

		Hong K	Kong	Mala	aysia	Singa	pore	Indor	nesia	Thai	iland
		q (lag 1)	A (lag 1)	q (lag 1)	A (lag 1)	q (lag 2)	A (lag 2)	q (lag 1)	A (lag 2)	q (lag 1)	A (lag 1)
Relative	F-stat			0.63	0.99	4.66 ^b	9.60	2.02	0.18	1.54 ^c	2.62
Change in	p-value			0.43	0.33	0.03	0.00	0.16	0.83	0.22	0.11
RM	Conclusion			H0 NR	H0 NR	H0 R	H0 R	H0 NR	H0 NR	H0 NR	H0 NR
Change in	F-stat	1.68	1.38	2.11 ^a		0.2		0.005		2.79 ^a	
interest	p-value	0.198	0.26	0.13		0.82		0.94		0.07	
rate	Conclusion	H0 NR	H0 NR	H0 NR		H0 NR		H0 NR		H0 NR	
Relative	F-stat	1.64	0.001	5.27	0.29	0.70	0.14 ^b		8.85	4.3	0.03 ^a
Change in	p-value	0.204	0.97	0.03	0.59	0.48	0.71		0.002	0.04	0.76
FP	Conclusion	H0 NR	H0 NR	H0 R	H0 NR	H0 NR	H0 NR		H0 R	H0 R	H0 NR
Change in	F-stat	0.01	0.74	2.66	1.49	3.43	13.49	0.01	35.88 ^b	2.31	1.34
exchange	p-value	0.91	0.40	0.11	0.23	0.003	0.00	0.90	0.00	0.14	0.25
rate	Conclusion	H0 NR	H0 NR	H0 NR	H0 NR	H0 R	H0 R	H0 NR	H0 R	H0 NR	H0 NR
^a (lag 2) ^b (lag 1) ^c (lag 4)											

Table 3 Granger causality test results

Notes: H0: Demand-Specific Policy Variable does not Granger Cause Supply Shock; H0 R denotes H0 is rejected; H0 NR denotes failure to reject H0; and the rejection criteria is made for α =5%. Lag lengths are chosen based on AIC or SIC.

Table 3 shows that the estimated supply shock for Hong Kong could be regarded as relatively consistent, or reliable, since neither of the demand specific policy proxies led the supply shock within the necessary short period (four quarters). In the other cases, however, there is an indication that the estimated supply shocks are commingled with some types of demand shocks. In the case of Malaysia and Thailand, while the annual supply shock may not seem to be capturing any of the elements of demand shock considered in this study, the quarterly estimate of supply shocks are led by the relative changes in fiscal policy within the necessary short period. Therefore, there is an indication that the estimated quarterly supply shock commingled with some type of real demand shock to the economy. Singapore's case indicates that both annual and quarterly estimated supply shocks. In the case of Indonesia, the annual supply shocks seem to be commingled with the real and internationally induced demand shocks.

Except for evaluating the relative reliability of the structural shocks aggregation in a bivariate system, the approach employed also points to some possible sources for the type of commingling shocks. This feature may be regarded as information on a directive indication for enlarging the VAR system in order to get a better measure of the underlying structural shocks. For example, in the case of Singapore, estimating a system that explicitly separates the nominal and internationally induced demand shocks may produce a more reliable estimate of the underlying structural shocks.

Time aggregation issue

To see whether the broad features of the quarterly models are being carried over to the annual models, one can compare the forecast-error variance produced by each of the model (as reported in Appendixes 3 and 4). For the case of Hong Kong, Malaysia and Singapore, the broad features of the quarterly models are carried over to their annual models. The forecast error variances for output growth in those countries are dominated by the supply shocks, while the forecast error variances for inflation are mostly accounted for by the demand shocks. However, the role of the annual supply shocks in explaining output growth and inflation tend to be under represented relative to the role they play in the quarterly models. This resemblance in the role of the structural shocks in explaining output growth and inflation for both the quarterly and the annual models suggests that the underlying structural shocks in both models may be identified in similar ways.

The indications in the cases of Indonesia and Thailand, however, are less promising. Although features for the forecast error variance of output growth in the quarterly models are carried over to the annual models, that is not the case for the forecast error variances of inflation. In the case of Indonesia, inflation variances are mostly accounted for by supply shocks in the quarterly model, but are the other way around in the annual model. In the case of Thailand, the quarterly model shows an equally important role of the two structural shocks in explaining inflation variances. This feature also failed to be carried over into the annual model. In other words, for these last two country cases, the issue of time aggregation problems may be more pronounced, where the aggregated annual estimated supply shocks may capture some of the quarterly demand shocks.

To formally test for the time aggregation problem, we used the method suggested by Faust and Leeper (1997) as discussed in sub-section 3.2. Except for Hong Kong, the available data for most of the countries under consideration are not large enough. For that reason, only the test for Hong Kong is presented.

Table 4 shows the result of the Wald test conducted on equations (5) and (6). The results suggest that for equation (5), H_0 is rejected at 5 percent level of significance.

Equation (5)	$H_0: W(L^4)=0$	<i>F</i> -statistics	Probability
	df:(4,21)	2.93	0.045
Equation(6)	$H_0: M(L^4)=0$	F-statistics	Probability
	df:(4,21)	1.996	0.132

Table 4 Testing for time aggregation problem

Therefore, there is an indication that in its aggregation process, the estimated annual supply shock picked up some quarterly demand shock components. In equation (6), however, the test fails to reject H_0 at 5 percent level of confidence. One can conclude that the estimated annual demand shock for Hong Kong is purely aggregating its respective quarterly ones.

5.3 Some notes on interpretation

This section has estimated the underlying structural shocks to the economies under consideration and has investigated simple statistical correlations between the estimated supply shocks with some demand-specific policy proxies. It is demonstrated that except for the case of Hong Kong, the estimated supply shocks tend to be significantly correlated to some of the demand-specific policy proxies. A Granger causality test is performed to confirm that the correlation does not imply the containment of some demand shock components in the estimated supply shock.

Except for Hong Kong, the Granger causality tests suggested an existence of commingling shocks problems in the estimated supply shock. Therefore, the estimated structural shocks from a simple bivariate VAR system may, in this case, not be reliable. The feature of the approach used in this study enables one to obtain an indication of the possible direction of further improvement that can be made to the VAR system in order to obtain more reliable estimates of the structural shocks.⁹ In the case of the quarterly model of Malaysia, and both the quarterly and the annual models of Thailand, enlarging the VAR system to explicitly separate the real demand shock may be a good direction, in terms of giving better estimates of the underlying structural shocks. In the case of the annual model of Indonesia, estimating a system that explicitly separates the real and the internationally induced demand shocks may be preferable.

One may argue that the omitted information problem in performing the Granger causality test – as suggested by Hamilton (1983) – may also be present in this case. However, since the demand-specific policy proxies used are supposedly demand shocks in theory, then even if there was an interfering variable omitted from the Granger causality test, this points to the possibility of a commingling shocks problem, but will not alter the conclusions of the test. However, it may alter the directive indication on a possible further improvement of the model.

Another point worth noting here is that even if the shock aggregation problem may not be apparent, its reliability may still be questionable due to the time aggregation problem. The estimated supply shock for Hong Kong, for example, does not appear to suffer from a shock aggregation problem. However, when confronted by the higher frequency data, the estimated quarterly demand shock seems to be picked up by the

estimated annual supply shock. Hence, there is also an indication of shock commingling problem. Although the formal test could not be conducted for the case of the other countries, due to data inadequacy, a failure to carry over the broad feature of a model with higher frequency data to the one with a lower frequency data (as in the cases of Indonesia and Thailand) may also be interpreted as an indication of the presence of the commingling shocks problem.

6. Conclusion

The objective of this study is to assess the reliability of the estimated structural shocks produced by applying the Blanchard and Quah (1989) long-run identifying restrictions to a simple bivariate VAR model. The cases of interest in this study are some countries in the Southeast Asian bloc as identified by Bayoumi and Eichengreen (1994), namely Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore, Indonesia and Thailand.

The finding from this study indicates that the commingling shocks problems appear in the identified underlying structural shocks. This result suggests the disadvantages of the low dimension of bivariate models in uncovering the structural shocks to the economy. In relation to assessing the symmetry of structural shocks for a bloc of countries, the commingling shocks problems will have important implication for the reliability of any inferences drawn from employing the models.

For the above reason, to improve reliability, it seems advisable to use larger models in estimating structural shocks. These larger models will help to disentangle structural shocks in a more detailed manner, thereby separating the unwanted effects in each of the estimates. However, estimating larger models would cost the convenience and all the advantages of smaller models. To this end, the methodology applied in this study could provide a simple directive indication on a possible further enlargement of the model, if needed.

From an exercise using the Hong Kong data, there is also an indication that using higher frequency data in estimating the structural shocks could produce more desirable results by avoiding time aggregation problems. Additionally, these higher frequency data would also capture more dynamics in the data development processes, which may fail to be captured by the lower frequency ones.

As for the issue of assessing the symmetry in the nature of structural shocks for a bloc of countries to form a currency union, in order to get a more reliable result, an exercise using models that may produce more reliable estimates of structural shocks should be preferable. This study does not provide an answer to that problem??, but indicates the need for further investigations??? in the future research agenda.



Appendix 1 Cumulative impulse responses for the annual data set



----- Shock1 ---- Shock2

Accumulated Response of GM YY to Structural One S.D. Innovations

5

15



Note: Shocks 1 and 2 represent the underlying demand and supply shocks respectively; Gij (i {HK(Hong Kong), MY (Malaysia), SG (Singapore), ID (Indonesia), TH (Thailand)} and j {Y(output), P(prices)}) represents annual growth of Y and P (inflation) for country i.











Note: Shocks 1 and 2 represent the underlying demand and supply shocks respectively; DLij (i {HK (Hong Kong), MY (Malaysia), SG (Singapore), ID (Indonesia), TH (Thailand)} and j {Y (output), P (prices)}) represents quarterly growth of Y and P (inflation) for country i.

Year	Variance decomposition of GHKY:		1011 01	Vai	riance d	ance decomposition of GMYY: GSGYT:		tion of			
	S.E.	Shock1	Shock2	Year	S.E.	Shock1	Shock2	Year	S.E.	Shock1	Shock2
1	4.40	14.97	85.03	1	3.86	25.04	74.96	1	3.51	24.16	75.84
2	4.94	12.76	87.24	2	3.94	25.74	74.26	2	3.70	21.77	78.23
4	5.19	12.60	87.40	4	4.04	27.96	72.04	4	3.86	20.46	79.54
6	5.72	10.47	89.53	6	4.08	28.78	71.22	6	3.90	21.18	78.82
10	6.05	9.41	90.59	10	4.10	29.01	70.99	10	3.92	21.90	78.10
Varia	nce dec GH	ompositior KP:	n of	Var	iance d G	ecomposi MYP:	tion of	Vari	ance d	ecomposi GP:	tion of
Year	S.E.	Shock 1	Shock 2	Year	S.E.	Shock1	Shock2	Year	S.E.	Shock1	Shock2
1	4 32	96.42	3 58	1	4 88	95 18	4 82	1	3.06	99.80	0.20
2	5.26	97.54	2.46	2	5.36	92.02	7.98	2	3.92	99.43	0.57
4	5.98	97.64	2.36	4	5.68	91.56	8.44	4	4.53	98.33	1.67
6	6.19	97.69	2.31	6	6.05	89.46	10.54	6	4.67	97.59	2.41
10	6.29	97.64	2.36	10	6.33	89.22	10.78	10	4.71	97.19	2.81
Varia	nce dec	ompositior	n of GIDY:	Va	riance o	lecompos	ition of GTH	γ۰			
Y ear	S.E.	Shock 1	Shock 2	Year	S.E.	Shock	1 Shock 2				
1	3.99	0.03	99.97	1	3.46	0.16	99.84				
2	4.20	0.03	99.97	2	3.88	0.13	99.87				
4	4.23	0.03	99.97	4	4.00	0.13	99.87				
6	4.23	0.03	99.97	6	4.01	0.14	99.86				
10	4.23	0.03	99.97	10	4.01	0.14	99.86				
Varia		o man o siti o r	e of CIDD.	Var	ianaa d		tion of CTU).			
Year	S.E.	Shock1	Shock2	Year	S.E.	Shock1	Shock2				
1	43 45	94 73	5.27	1	4 4 4	92.39	7.61				
2	46.66	85.78	14.22	2	5.44	94.91	5.09				
4	47.34	83.51	16.49	4	6.18	94.26	5.74				
6	47.35	83.46	16.54	6	6.40	93.26	6.74				
10	47.35	83.46	16.54	10	6.48	92.72	7.28				

Appendix 3 Variance decomposition from structural factorisation (annual data set)

 $\label{eq:Note:Note:Note:Note:Shocks 1 and 2 represent the underlying demand and supply shocks respectively; Gij (i \in \{HK (Hong Kong), MY(Malaysia), SG (Singapore), ID (Indonesia), TH (Thailand) \} and j \{Y (output), P (prices)\}) represents annual growth of Y and P (inflation) for country i.$

Appendix 4 Variance decomp	osition from	structural f	factorisation (quarterly	y data set)
----------------------------	--------------	--------------	-----------------	-----------	-------------

Varia	nce deco	omposition	of DLHKY	: Varia	unce de	ecompositi	on of DLM	IYY: Varia	ince de	ecomposi	tion of
Quar	ter S.E.	Shock 1	Shock 2	Quarter	S.E.	Shock 1	Shock 2	Quarter	S.E.	Shock 1	Shock 2
1	2.06	3.65	96.35	1	1.84	7.86	92.14	1	1.84	11.23	88.77
4	2.23	7.66	92.34	4	2.06	9.13	90.87	4	2.32	9.52	90.48
8	2.26	8.30	91.70	8	2.06	9.13	90.87	8	2.52	8.61	91.39
24	2.27	8.89	91.11	24	2.06	9.13	90.87	24	2.60	8.26	91.74
40	2.27	8.90	91.11	40	2.06	9.13	90.87	40	2.60	8.25	91.75

Variance decomposition of DLHKP: Variance decomposition of DLMYP: Variance decomposition of DLMYP: Variance decomposition of Quarter S.E. Shock 1 Shock 2 DLSGP: Ouarter S.E. Shock 1 Shock 2 Shock 2

								Quarter	5.E.	Shock 18	shock 2
1	1.23	92.32	7.68	1	1.72	80.79	19.21	1	1.43	99.17	0.8
4	1.58	87.95	12.05	4	1.84	73.99	26.01	4	1.63	85.38	14.62
8	1.77	84.72	15.28	8	1.84	73.99	26.01	8	1.69	82.07	17.93
24	1.82	83.37	16.63	24	1.84	73.99	26.01	24	1.71	80.20	19.80
40	1.82	83.37	16.63	40	1.84	73.99	26.01	40	1.71	80.18	19.82

Variance decomposition of DLIDY: Variance decomposition of DLTHY: Quarter S.E. Shock 1 Shock 2 Quarter S.E. Shock 1 Shock 2

1	2.07	25.83	74.17	1	3.23	10.39	89.61
4	2.75	21.73	78.27	4	4.01	19.06	80.94
8	2.75	21.74	78.26	8	4.28	21.97	78.03
24	2.75	21.74	78.26	24	4.31	22.22	77.78
40	2.75	21.74	78.26	40	4.31	22.22	77.78

Variance deco	mposition of DLIDP:	Variance	decom	position	of DLTHP:
Quarter S.E.	Shock 1 Shock 2	Quarter	S.E.	Shock 1	Shock 2

1	5.15	10.65	89.35	1	1.70	58.42	41.58
4	5.92	10.60	89.40	4	1.83	54.83	45.17
8	5.92	10.68	89.32	8	1.89	53.97	46.03
24	5.92	10.68	89.32	24	1.90	53.90	46.10
40	5.92	10.68	89.32	40	1.90	53.90	46.10

Note:

Shocks 1 and 2 represent the underlying demand and supply shocks respectively; DLij (i \in {HK (Hong Kong), MY (Malaysia), SG (Singapore), ID (Indonesia), TH (Thailand)} and j{Y (output), P (prices)}) represents quarterly growth of Y and P (inflation) for country i.

Appendix 5 The estimated structural shocks

Estimation results for shocks from quarterly data 1. Hong Kong case (1973:1-2003:4); VAR lag length: 3



2. Malaysia case (1991:1-2003:2); VAR lag length: 1



3. Singapore case (1985:1–2003:2); VAR lag length: 4



4. Indonesia case (1993:1–2003:2); VAR lag length: 2



Estimation results for shocks from annual data





2. Malaysia case (1960–2002); VAR lag length: 4



3. Singapore case (1960–2002); VAR lag length: 2



4. Indonesia case (1960–2002); VAR lag length: 1



5. Thailand case (1993:1–2003:2); VAR lag length: 2

ngth: 2 5. Thailand case (1960–2002); VAR lag length:



Note:

USi and UDi; ($i \in \{HK (Hong Kong), MY (Malaysia), SG (Singapore), ID (Indonesia), TH (Thailand)\}$ represents supply and demand shocks for country i respectively. Y represents the annual data.

Notes

* I thank Professor Gordon de Brouwer for helpful comments and suggestions. The author remains solely responsible for the content of this paper.

- 1 The particular focus on the supply shock component is its relative importance in analysing the symmetry of the economic disturbances (see Bayoumi and Eichengreen 1994, p. 23).
- 2 The countries under consideration will be explained in the next section.
- 3 This last extension was also advocated earlier by Sims (1980).
- 4 Since we want to test for only a set of short-lagged policy variable, then p must not be too high.
- 5 Since we only consider a relatively small value of p (see footnote 4).
- 6 Except for Hong Kong, which is not available in WBWT. Taken from the CEIC database.
- 7 Data from WBWT available up to 2000, the data for 2001–2002 for all countries were taken from CEIC data base.
- 8 Seasonally adjusted data are available for all countries under consideration except for Indonesia and Malaysia, which are adjusted further using census X11-additive method available in EVIEWS 4.1.
- 9 This was also suggested for the case of Singapore earlier in this section.

References

Barro, R.J. (1978) 'Unanticipated Money Growth, Output and the Price Level in the United States', *Journal of Political Economy*, 86(4), 549.

- Bayoumi, T. and B. Eichengreen (1994) 'One Money or Many? Analyzing the Prospects for Monetary Unification on Various Parts of the World', *Princeton Studies in International Finance*, 76.
- Bayoumi, T., B. Eichengreen and P. Mauro (1999) 'On Regional Monetary Arrangements for ASEAN', Paper in the ADB/CEPII/KIEP Conference on Exchange Rate Regimes in Emerging Market Economies, Tokyo, December 1999, available at: <u>http://www.adbi.org/ PDF/cf991217/mauropaper.pdf</u>
- Bayoumi, T. and P. Mauro (1999) 'The Suitability of ASEAN for a Regional Currency Arrangement', *IMF Working Paper*, WP/99/162.
- Blanchard, O and D. Quah (1989) 'The Dynamic Effects of Aggregate Demand and Supply Disturbances', American Economic Review, 79, 655–673.
- Eichengreen, B. and T. Bayoumi (1999) 'Is Asia an Optimum Currency Area? Can It Become One?', in Stefan Collignon, Jean Pisani–Ferry and Yung Chul Park (Eds.), *Exchange Rate Policies in Emerging Asian Countries*, Routledge, London, 347–366.
- Enders, W. (1995) Applied Econometric Time Series, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., the USA.
- Faust, J. and E.M. Leeper (1997) 'When Do Long-Run Identifying Restrictions Give Reliable Results?', Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, 15(3), 345–353.
- Gottschalk, J. and W.V. Zandweghe (2001) 'Do Bivariate SVAR Models with Long-Run Identifying Restrictions Yield Reliable Results? The Case of Germany', *Kiel Working Paper*, No. 1068, Kiel Institute of World Economics.
- Hamilton, J.D. (1983) 'Oil and the Macroeconomy since World War II', Journal Of Political Economy, 91(2), 228–248.
- ----- (1994) Time Series Analysis, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey.
- Lucas, R.E. (1972) 'Expectations and the Neutrality of Money', Journal of Economic Theory, 4(April), 103–124.
- Sargent, T. J. (1996) 'Expectations and the Non-neutrality of Lucas', Journal of Monetary Economics, 37(June), 535-548.
- Sims, C.A. (1980) 'Macroeconomics and Reality', Econometrica, 48, 1-48.
- ----- (1998) 'Comment on Glenn Rudebusch's "Do Measures of Monetary Policy in a VAR Make Sense?"', *International Economic Review*, 39(4), 933–941.

Previous Pacific Economic Papers

- 356 RMB exchange rate and local currency price stability: the case of China and ASEAN+3 *Xiao Bing Feng*, 2006
- 355 Technical efficiency and its determinants in Gansu, West China Sizhong Sun, 2006
- 354 The making of Asia's first bilateral FTA: Origins and regional implications of the Japan– Singapore economic partnership agreement *Takashi Terada*, 2006
- 353 US and EU trade policies and East Asia Peter Drysdale and Christopher Findlay, 2006
- 352 The Japan–Australia partnership in the era of the East Asian community: can they advance together? Takashi Terada, 2005
- 351 Trade policy at the crossroads *Bill Carmichael*, 2005
- 350 East Asian economic integration and its impact on future growth *Philippa Dee*, 2005
- 349 ASEAN monetary cooperation: Issues and prospects *Arief Ramayandi*, 2005
- 348 Growth and reform in the Korean economy Volume edited by *Jong–Soon Kang and Jung Soo Seo*, 2005
- 347 Trade policy at the crossroads The Indonesian story David Vanzetti et al, 2005
- 346 Fiscal rules and targets and public expenditure management: Enthusiasm in the 1990s and its aftermath Hideaki Tanaka, 2005
- 345 The Australia–US Free Trade Agreement: An assessment *Philippa Dee*, 2005
- 344 Regional cooperation in East Asia and FTA strategies *Peter Drysdale*, 2005
- 343 Taiwan's role in the economic architecture of East Asia and the Pacific *Peter Drysdale and Xinpeng Xu*, 2005
- 342 A regional bond market for East Asia? The evolving political dynamics of regional financial cooperation Jennifer Amyx, 2004

- 341 East Asian economic integration: China's perspective and policy *Xu Mingqi*, 2003
- 340 Services trade liberalisation Motoshige Itoh and Naoki Shimoi, 2003
- 339 The enigma of Toyota's competitive advantage: Is Denso the missing link in the academic literature? Evelvn Anderson, 2003
- 338 An ASEAN economic community and ASEAN+3: How do they fit together? Hadi Soesastro, 2003
- 337 Regional approaches to services trade and investment liberalisation Jane Drake–Brockman, 2003
- 336 Beyond free trade agreements: 21st century choices for East Asian economic cooperation *Andrew Elek*, February 2003
- 335 Trading with favourites: Free trade agreements in the Asia Pacific *Christopher Findlay, Haflah Piei and Mari Pangestu*, January 2003
- 334 WTO market access negotiations for non-agricultural products, Doha Round: Implications for East Asia Kate Flowers and Malcolm Bosworth, December 2002

Annual subscription rate for twelve issues:

Individuals A\$65.00 (includes GST) A\$60 (overseas) Institutions A\$110.00 (includes GST) A\$100 (overseas)

Cost for single issues:

A\$16.50 (includes GST) A\$15.00 (overseas) A\$10.00 (Students)

No postage required within Australia

Available from:Publications Department
Australia–Japan Research Centre
Crawford School of Economics and Management
ANU College of Asia and the Pacific
The Australian National University
Canberra ACT 0200, Australia
Facsimile: (61 2) 6249 0767
Telephone: (61 2) 6249 3780
Email: ajrc@anu.edu.au
URL: http://www.crawford.anu.edu.au